WORKING AGREEMENT

Between

CITY OF WATERVILLE

AND

WATERVILLE PROFESSIONAL FIRE FIGHTERS, IAFF LOCAL 1608,

Representing
THE WATERVILLE FIRE DEPARTMENT

July 1, 2025 through June 30, 2028

Contents

ARTICLE 1 – AGREEMENT	2
Section 1: General	2
Section 2: Public Employees	2
ARTICLE 2 – RECOGNITION	2
Section 1: Sole and Exclusive Bargaining Rep.	2
Section 2: Union Lists	2
ARTICLE 3 – UNION SECURITY	2
ARTICLE 4 – CHECK OFF	3
Section 1: Deductions for Union Dues	3
Section 2: Financial Institutions	3
Section 3: Direct Deposit of Paychecks	3
ARTICLE 5 – PROBATIONARY PERIOD	3
ARTICLE 6 - SENIORITY LIST	4
ARTICLE 7 – VACANCIES/PROMOTIONS	4
Section 1: Non-Promotional Vacancies	4
Section 2: Promotional Vacancies	4
2.1 – Battalion Chiefs and Captain:	4
Section 3: Vacancies Filled on Emergency Basis	5
Section 4: Wage Rate Upon Qualification	6
ARTICLE 8 - WORKING RULES/MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	6
Section 1: Right of Direction	6
Section 2: Adoption of Rules of Operation	6
Section 3: Duties	6
Section 4: Safety	6
Section 5: Working Schedule	7
ARTICLE 9 – PERSONNEL REDUCTION	7
ARTICLE 10 – SENIORITY	7
ARTICLE 11 – VACATIONS	7
Section 1: Entitlement	7
Section 2: Vacation Schedules	8
Section 3: Earned Paid Leave	9
3.1: Covered Employees	9
3.2: Accrual Rate	
3.3: Use of Earned Paid Leave	9
3.4: Discipline	10
3.5: Balance Carry Over	10

ARTICLE 12 – HOLIDAYS	10
Section 1: Holidays Observed	10
Section 2: Holiday Pay	10
Section 3: Special Holidays	11
Section 4: Personal/Convenience Day Off	11
ARTICLE 13 – SICK LEAVE	11
Section 1: Computation	11
Section 2: Accumulation	11
Section 3: Entitlement for Use	11
3.1: Personal Illness	11
3.2: Family Sick Leave Act	12
3.3: Family Medical Leave Act	12
3.4: Paid Family Medical Leave Law	12
Section 4: In Excess of 3 Days	12
Section 5: Certificate of Fitness	13
Section 6: Definition of Physician	13
Section 7: Adjustment of Vacation Time to Sick Time	14
Section 8: Paternity Leave	14
Section 9: Entitlement Upon Termination	14
Section 10: Sick Free Incentive	14
Section 11: Accumulated Sick Leave	15
Section 12: Sick Leave Usage Pay	15
Section 13: Sick Leave Buyback	15
ARTICLE 14 – DRIVING OF FIRE DEPARTMENT VEHICLES	15
Section 1: Fire Apparatus	15
Section 2: Full Time Staff	15
Section 3: Spare Drivers	16
Section 4: Auxiliary Apparatus	16
Section 5: On-Call and Per Diem	16
ARTICLE 15 – RIGHT OF SUBSTITUTION	16
ARTICLE 16 – WORKING OUT OF CLASSIFICATION	17
ARTICLE 17 – INFORMAL GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	17
ARTICLE 18 – SETTLEMENT OF DISPUTES	
Section 1: Grievance and Arbitration Procedure	
ARTICLE 19 – CLOTHING PURCHSE AND MAINTENANCE ALLOWANCE	18
Section 1: Amount Authorized	18
Section 2: Clothing Allowance Balance	18

ARTICLE 20 – PROTECTION OF PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT	19
ARTICLE 21 – LABOR REQUIREMENTS	19
ARTICLE 22 – NO STRIKE OR LOCK OUT	19
ARTICLE 23 – INSURANCE PROGRAM	19
Section 1: Health Insurance Coverage	19
Section 2: Dental Insurance	20
Section 3: Life, Accidental Death, Disability Insurance	20
Section 4: Short-Term Disability Insurance	20
Section 5: Contract Reopener	20
ARTICLE 24 – GENERAL PROVISIONS	
Section 1: Pledge Against Discrimination and Coercion	20
ARTICLE 25 – UNION ACTIVITIES AND ACCESS	21
Section 1: Furnish Bulletin Boards	21
Section 2: Allowable Activity	21
Section 3: Visits by Union Representatives	21
ARTICLE 26 – WORK RULES	21
Section 1: Work Rules Posted When Changed	21
Section 2: Informing Employees	22
Section 3: Enforcing	22
ARTICLE 27 – PROTECTIVE CLOTHING	22
Section1: Employer's Obligation to Provide	22
ARTICLE 28 – WAGES	22
Section 1: Referral to Appendix A	22
Section 2: Outside Work Detail	22
Section 3: Wages – Overtime	23
Section 4: Meal Time – Special Holidays	23
Section 5: Stipends	23
Section 6 – Lateral Entry	24
ARTICLE 29 – PRIOR RIGHTS	24
ARTICLE 30 – UNION MEETINGS	24
ARTICLE 31 – JURY DUTY	25
Section 1: Jury Duty	25
Section 2: Court Time	
ARTICLE 32 – CIVIL DISTURBANCE	
ARTICLE 33 – DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURE	
Section 1: Right of Employer to Suspend/Discharge	
Section 2: Indemnity	27

ARTICLE 34 – FIRE CALLS	27
ARTICLE 35 – RETIREMENT	27
ARTICLE 36 - PHYSICAL FITNESS PROGRAM	27
ARTICLE 37 – WORKERS' COMPENSATION LEAVE	29
ARTICLE 38 - DEATH IN FAMILY - TIME OFF	29
ARTICLE 39 – TRANSITIONAL WORK PROGRAM	30
Section 1: Transitional Work	30
Section 2: Transitional Work Maternity Policy	31
ARTCILE 40 - USE OF CITY PHYSICIAN - RESPIRATORY FITNESS	31
ARTICLE 41 – LICENSE REQUIREMENTS	31
Section 1: Drivers License Suspensions for Non-Medical Reasons	31
Section 2: Drivers License Suspension for Medical Reasons	32
Section 3: EMT License and Firefighter Certification	32
ARTICLE 42 – FIRE MEDICS	32
ARTICLE 43 – DURATION OF AGREEMENT	33
APPENDIX A – WAGES	35
APPENDIX B - CONSENT TO RELEASE OF MEDICAL INFORMATION	38
APPENDIX C – UNION PHYSICAL FITNESS ASSESSMENT	39
APPENDIX D: FITNESS EVALUATION FORM	42
APPENDIX E – OVERTIME BOARD RULES	43
APPENDIX F – OVERTIME POLICY JULY 1, 2008	46
EXHIBIT A – ACCUMULATED SICK LEAVE BANK	47

ARTICLE 1 – AGREEMENT

Section 1: General

The City of Waterville Fire Department, hereinafter referred to as the "City", and Waterville Professional Fire Fighters, affiliated with the International Association of Fire Firefighters Local 1608, hereinafter referred to as the "Union", in order to increase general efficiency in the Fire Department, to maintain the existing harmonious relationship between the City and its employees, and to promote the morale, well-being and sincerity of the Fire Department, do enter into this Agreement.

Section 2: Public Employees

The individual members of the bargaining unit are to regard themselves as public employees, and as such are to be governed by the highest ideal for honor and integrity in all the relationships with the public while on duty, in order that they merit the respect and confidence of the general public. However, in the conduct of their personal lives, it is understood that actions may be the subject of discipline only if such actions or conduct in any way limit the employee's ability to perform his or her duties satisfactorily.

ARTICLE 2 – RECOGNITION

Section 1: Sole and Exclusive Bargaining Rep.

The City hereby recognizes that the Union is the sole and exclusive representative of all employees of the Fire Department, except the Chief, Deputy Chief, administrative assistant, call firefighters, per diem, on-call and spare drivers for the purpose of bargaining with respect to wages, hours of work and other conditions of employment for all its employees.

Section 2: Union Lists

The Union agrees to supply the Fire Chief with a list of officers of the Union and the names of the Union Stewards and the names of the Grievance Committee. It shall be the duty of the Union to keep this list of names up to date.

ARTICLE 3 – UNION SECURITY

No employee shall be favored or discriminated against either by the City or by the Union because of membership or non-membership in the Union. The Union recognizes its responsibility as a bargaining agent and agrees to represent all employees in the bargaining unity without discrimination, interference, restraint or coercion.

All employees covered by this Agreement have the right to join, participate, or refrain from joining the Union, provided however, that it shall be a condition of employment that all employees covered by this Agreement who are not or do not become members of the Union shall pay each pay period a service fee

equal to 80% of the weekly Union dues as a contribution towards the cost of collective bargaining, contract administration and the adjustment of grievances.

The Union agrees to hold the City harmless for honoring the above Union Security provisions. The Union further agrees that should the City be sued or become involved in litigation by reason of the above Union Security provision, including a prohibited practice complaint under Chapter 9A, Title 26, the Union will indemnify the City for any damages declared owed by the City, and will assume all costs of defending such action including attorney's fees.

ARTICLE 4 – CHECK OFF

Section 1: Deductions for Union Dues

The City shall deduct regular monthly union dues and initiation fees upon receipt of signed authorizations from the Union members (a copy of which is to be retained by the City). The City shall forward all such dues so collected to the Secretary/Treasurer of the local Union before the end of each month in which deductions are made. The Union shall indemnify and hold the City harmless against all claims and suits, which may arise by reason of any action taken in making deductions of said dues and remitting the same to the Union pursuant to this Article.

Section 2: Financial Institutions

The City shall establish and recognize any financial institution for the purpose of carrying out the obligations of this Article. With the consent of each employee, the City agrees to deduct weekly from his/her wages an amount, or certain sum of money, and electronically transfer that amount to the financial institution selected by each employee. The City shall electronically transfer the financial institution during the same week in which the deduction occurs

Section 3: Direct Deposit of Paychecks

The City will institute direct deposit of paychecks to any financial institution in the area. It will be mandatory for all employees to have the paycheck be directly deposited.

ARTICLE 5 – PROBATIONARY PERIOD

All new employees shall serve a probationary period of twelve months' duration and shall have no seniority rights during this period. For purposes of this article, "twelve months duration" shall mean 12 calendar months of employment, unless an employee is out of work on an extended medical leave. If an employee is out of work on extended medical leave, the twelve-month probationary period will be extended for the same amount of time as the medical leave. For example, if an employee starts work on January 1st but is out of work for six weeks, the probation would be from January 1st through December 31st, plus an additional six (6) weeks, which would extend the probation to February 12th of the following

year (the employees start date plus an additional six weeks). All employees who have completed the probationary period, shall upon approval of the Fire Chief and City Manager, be known as regular employees. Following acceptance as a regular employee, the probationary period shall be considered for seniority purposes. The City retains the right to terminate, without recourse, any employee during the probationary period. The twelve months' probationary period may be extended upon mutual agreement of the City and the Union.

ARTICLE 6 – SENIORITY LIST

The Fire Department shall establish a seniority list and it shall be brought up to date on July 1 of each fiscal year and immediately posted thereafter on the Fire Department bulletin board at Central Fire Station for a period of not less than thirty (30) calendar days, and a copy of same shall be mailed to the Secretary of the local Union and Shop Steward. Any objection to the seniority list, as posted, shall be reported to the Fire Chief in writing within ten (10) calendar days or it will stand approved.

ARTICLE 7 – VACANCIES/PROMOTIONS

Section 1: Non-Promotional Vacancies

Non-promotional vacancies are vacancies on a shift and not associated with a specific apparatus. When a position vacancy, other than a promotional vacancy, occurs in the bargaining unit, the employee with the highest seniority shall be given the first opportunity to fill the vacancy, providing he/she is qualified. If the employee with the highest seniority does not avail themselves of the opportunity, or is shown not to be qualified, then the next senior employee shall be given the opportunity to fill the vacancy providing the employee is qualified.

All vacancies shall be posted for a period of not less than ten (10) calendar days prior to the date the vacant position or job is allocated to anyone.

This Article is not applicable to probationary personnel who are governed by Article 5, Section 1. All firefighters will be classified as utility firefighters on each shift.

- 1. The shift commander will assign the duties of the utility firefighters each shift
- 2. Assignments will be filled based on seniority.
- 3. The Shift commander retains the right to direct and fill riding assignments as they see fit.

Section 2: Promotional Vacancies

2.1 – Battalion Chiefs and Captain:

A method for filling promotional vacancies for Battalion Chief and Captain will be done by a testing method as set forth hereinafter. The promotional vacancy shall be posted for a period of not less than 10 calendar days and applicants for consideration must respond within that time period.

Testing for a promotional vacancy shall be as follows:

1. A written test reviewed and scored by two people; one chosen by the Fire Chief and one chosen by the bargaining unit. Evaluators may not be employees of the fire department or

- relatives of any of the candidates for the promotional vacancy. The identity of the candidates will not be revealed to the Evaluators. 20% of the total score.
- 2. Oral interview in front of a review panel consisting of a civilian chosen by the Union, Career Firefighter chosen by the Union, EMS personnel chosen by the City, and a Fire Officer from another community chosen by the City. Interviewers may not be relatives of any of the candidates for the promotional vacancy. Additional members may be added to the panel if the Union and City agree. 40% of total score.
- 3. Employee performance evaluations. The three most recent will be used. If there are less than three evaluations available, then the number available will be used. 20% of total score.
- 4. Seniority shall be calculated for up to 20% of the total score with each year of continuous service with the City counting as one point per year up to a maximum of twenty points. Years of service shall be measured from the posting of the promotion backwards to the date of hire with all such years rounded up or down to the closest full number.

The Fire Chief will select from the three candidates having the highest scores. The decision of the Fire Chief will not be subject to the grievance procedure.

The Fire Chief reserves the right to maintain a promotional list, derived from the promotional testing, for the purpose of promoting multiple Captain or Battalion Chiefs. If the Fire Chief chooses to do so, the promotional list shall be valid for a maximum of one year.

In the event an employee is selected and assigned to fill the vacancy, that employee may, within seven (7) working days, elect to return to his/her previous position if he/she so desires. The City may retain an employee in a position for six (6) months to determine if he/she is qualified for said position or job. The employee will be evaluated at three (3) months to identify any area(s) that may need improvement. This article is not applicable to probationary personnel who are governed by Article 5, Section 1.

An individual who is awarded the position of Battalion Chief must have at least five (5) years experience in a full-time position, with at least four (4) years working for the Waterville Fire Department.

An individual who is awarded the position of Captain must have at least three (3) years of experience in a full-time fire position, with at least two (2) years working for the Waterville Fire Department.

Section 3: Vacancies Filled on Emergency Basis

Vacancies filled on an emergency basis shall not be subject to the previous Section. When such an emergency vacancy occurs, the position shall be filled by a member of the bargaining unit for the first thirty calendar (30) days of the emergency. After thirty (30) calendar days, the position may be filled by the City in any way it deems appropriate, subject to all other provisions of this Agreement. If the emergency vacancy becomes permanent, then it shall be filled in accordance with Article 7, Section 1.

Section 4: Wage Rate Upon Qualification

Once the individual has qualified and been approved for the higher classification in accordance with promotion procedures, he/she shall receive that higher rate while performing those duties. Placement on the pay scale at the higher rate will reflect years of continuous service with the City of Waterville Fire Department.

ARTICLE 8 – WORKING RULES/MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

Section 1: Right of Direction

The parties agree that the City has the right of direction of the working force of the Fire Department.

Section 2: Adoption of Rules of Operation

The City shall adopt rules for the operation of the Fire Department and the conduct of its employees, provided such rules do not conflict with any of the provisions of this Agreement, but any such conflict shall be negotiated by the City with the Union representatives. However, it is the responsibility of the City to assure any of the members of the Department that they will not have to use equipment that does not meet the safety requirements as applicable by State law.

Section 3: Duties

The duties of the members of the Fire Department shall be prevention, control and extinguishments of fires, emergency medical services, and simple maintenance, such as painting, cleaning, sweeping and minor repairs in the building, and simple minor maintenance on the equipment and such other duties required by the Chief, and/or Deputy Chief, consistent with the normal operations of the Fire Department. The Fire Chief will determine if maintenance or repairs must be completed by individuals not employed by the Fire Department. Duties may not include those that require special knowledge and/or licensing such as mechanical, electrical, plumbing, carpentry or masonry skills.

The Fire Chief reserves the right to assign fire department staff to special reports. The union will have no right to grieve the Fire Chief's decision on these assignments.

Section 4: Safety

The City shall have the right to make regulations for the safety and health of the employees during their hours of employment. Representatives of the Department and the Union may meet once in ninety (90) days, at the request of either party, to discuss such regulations. The Union agrees that its members who are employees of the Department will comply with the Department Rules and Regulations relating to safety, economy, continuity, and efficiency of a service to the Department and to the public.

Section 5: Working Schedule

The regular work week for Firefighters shall average forty-two (42) hours per week over a two-week cycle. Firefighters work schedule be twenty-four (24) hours on-duty, twenty-four (24) hours off-duty, twenty-four (24) hours on-duty, and one-hundred-twenty (120) hours off duty. (1 day on, 1 day off, 1 day on, 5 days off).

The City agrees that at no time will there be fewer than seven (7) employees per shift.

ARTICLE 9 – PERSONNEL REDUCTION

In case the City decides to reduce the fire personnel, then the employee with the least seniority shall be laid off first and the employee with the most seniority shall be rehired first, providing however, that he/she is qualified to fill the vacant position, and no new employee shall be hired until all laid-off employees have been given an opportunity to return to work, provided however, that enough of them are qualified to fill the vacant position, or positions.

ARTICLE 10 – SENIORITY

It is agreed that seniority shall be determined by length of continuous service with the Waterville Fire Department. In case of layoff or rehiring, employees with the longest seniority shall be laid off last and rehired first. The City agrees to furnish the Union with a list of employees with their length of service within thirty (30) calendar days after the signing of the contract. An employee shall not forfeit seniority during absence caused by illness or accident.

If two or more employees are to be hired at the same time, the employee with the highest recommendation shall be hired first and the other employees hired on the succeeding days, thereby allowing one (1) day of separation for each. However, existing employees shall retain present seniority status.

ARTICLE 11 – VACATIONS

Section 1: Entitlement

Employees are entitled to paid vacations in the following amounts:

- a. Completion of three (3) months continuous active employment One week (42 hours)
- b. Completion of one (1) year continuous active employment One week, Three days (114 hours), provided paid vacation under (a) has not been exercised.
- c. Completion of five (5) years' continuous active employment Two weeks, Three days (156 hours)
- d. Completion of twelve (12) years' continuous active employment Three weeks, Three days (198 hours)

- e. Completion of seventeen (17) years' continuous active employment Three weeks, Six days (270 hours)
- f. Completion of twenty-two (22) years' continuous active employment Three weeks, eight days. (318 hours)

Section 2: Vacation Schedules

- a. Vacation periods are from July 1 to June 30 of each fiscal year.
- b. Selection of a vacation shall be based upon seniority. Requests for vacations shall be submitted for approval to the Fire Chief between April 1 and May 15 of each calendar year. The Fire Chief shall respond to all vacation requests by May 30th of each year. Approval of vacation requests shall not be unreasonably denied. Each employee shall select two (2) weeks of vacation time. After all employees have selected, those entitled to more than two (2) weeks according to the above schedule, shall select from those weeks that remain open, in order of seniority. Those employees not selecting vacations by July 1 of the fiscal year shall be assigned a vacation by the Fire Chief, with the approval of the City Manager. Vacation leave not taken during the fiscal year shall not be carried over to the next fiscal year, unless an employee's requested vacation period is denied by the City, or the employee is unable to take a scheduled vacation within the last three months of the vacation year by virtue of receiving a workers' compensation award or receiving sick pay under this Agreement. The vacation date may be changed only with the approval of the Fire Chief.
- c. A week of paid vacation, which vacation must occur within seven (7) consecutive days between Friday and the following Friday, is defined as the dollar equivalent of forty-two (42) multiplied by the applicable hourly wage rate of the employee. An employee may take a vacation week on either a short (24 hours) or long (48 hours) week, and the employee will be paid for the forty-two hours for that vacation week.
- d. A day of paid vacation is defined as the dollar equivalent of twenty-four (24) multiplied by the applicable hourly wage rate of the employee.
- e. An employee's entitlement to vacation is listed in Section 1, consisting of weeks and days. The day entitlements are shown in Section 1 are not mandatory but are meant to be optional. To illustrate, an employee who is entitled to paid vacation consisting of three weeks and six days must take three weeks of paid vacation as that term is defined in Section 2d or at option may take four or five weeks of paid vacation.
- f. Any employee who exercises the option to take paid vacation in days must request approval of a specific date of the Fire Chief. Such request for approval must be at least seven days prior to the requested date unless the Chief waives the seven-day requirement. No daily vacation may be taken without the Chief's approval. Such approval will not be unreasonably withheld.
- g. No two individuals on the same shift may take vacation leave at the same time. See Appendix G.

Section 3: Earned Paid Leave

Effective July 1, 2022, the City is required to provide up to forty (40) hours of earned paid leave in a year to covered employees in accordance with the State of Maine law, 26 MRSA §637.

3.1: Covered Employees

All employees in the bargaining unit are considered covered employees under the Earned Paid Leave (EPL) law.

3.2: Accrual Rate

Employees are entitled to earn one hour of paid leave for every forty hours worked, up to forty hours in one year of employment. Employees receive more vacation leave than is required under the regulations of the EPL law. See Section 1, Entitlement, for accrual amounts.

The first forty (40) hours of vacation leave used each fiscal year will be considered EPL.

3.3: Use of Earned Paid Leave

An employee may begin using EPL after 120 days of employment. EPL will be paid at the employee's rate of pay as established in the week immediately prior to taking the EPL in accordance with the Department of Labor. EPL can be used for any purpose, however the following notification for use is required.

3.3.3: Unforeseen Emergency

An employee taking EPL for an emergency, illness or other sudden necessity where advance notice may not be feasible, must give notice to the Department Head and/or Supervisor as soon as practicable. An emergency or sudden necessity under the EPL is defined as anything within reason that is unforeseen and requires the employee to interrupt their work schedule. This includes the care for a person not related to the employee. Written documentation may not be required unless EPL is used over three days, but employees are required to provide a general description of the need for leave time. For example: illness of a child; illness of a day-care provider; transportation issue.

3.3.2: Planned Leave

An employee taking EPL for planned leave, whether it be for an appointment, personal day, or vacation, shall provide at least three (3) weeks' notice to the Department Head of their intent to use their EPL. Department Heads may waive the three (3) week notice if approval of the leave will interfere with the overall operations of the department.

Employees will follow this notification requirement for the first forty (40) hours of accrued vacation leave each fiscal year. After that, notification will follow Section 2 of this Article.

3.3.3: Denial of EPL Use

Department Heads may deny employees time off, other than for an emergency, illness or sudden necessity. The Department Head can also restrict dates that such time off may be granted. Examples of

department hardship may include department staffing, events, disasters, or weather emergencies. This is not an all-inclusive list. The Department Head can deny a requested date of use if it significantly impacts departmental operations.

3.4: Discipline

An employee shall not be disciplined for unscheduled absences when using earned paid leave unless the employee does not follow the notification requirements this contract.

3.5: Balance Carry Over

The maximum benefit allowed to carry over each year is forty (40) hours.

ARTICLE 12 - HOLIDAYS

Section 1: Holidays Observed

The following days will be considered paid holidays:

January

New Year's Day

January

Martin Luther King Day

February

President's Day

April

Patriots' Day

May

Memorial Day

June

Juneteenth

July

Independence Day

September

Labor Day

October

Indigenous Peoples Day

November

Veterans' Day

November

Thanksgiving Day

December

Christmas Day

Section 2: Holiday Pay

It is agreed by the City, if an employee has to work any of the above-listed days, he/she shall receive his/her regular day's pay plus an additional fourteen (14) hours' pay for working on these holidays.

It is agreed by the City, if the employee is absent on sick leave, scheduled day off, or annual vacation on any of these holidays, he/she shall qualify for pay.

Section 3: Special Holidays

Any day declared a holiday by the President of the United States or the Governor of the State of Maine, or Mayor of the City of Waterville in addition to the above, shall be considered a fourteen (14) hour day with pay.

Section 4: Personal/Convenience Day Off

The City agrees to grant one personal/convenience day off with pay per fiscal year to employees. Notice for use of a personal/convenience day off must be in writing at least seven (7) calendar days prior to the requested day off and will be authorized only with the approval of the Fire Chief and/or the City Manager. A personal/convenience day off is not subject to the provisions of Article 12, Section 2 entitled "Holiday Pay".

ARTICLE 13 – SICK LEAVE

Section 1: Computation

Sick leave shall be computed at the rate of 288 hours (12 days) per year and may be accumulated to a maximum of 1,800 hours (75 days). Such leave shall be granted upon application in writing before or within a reasonable time after the absence, depending on the circumstances of each case; provided however, in utilizing sick leave in conjunction with Article 39 Workers' Compensation Leave, the requirements of Article 39 Section 4C (1) must be adhered to.

A day of sick leave is defined as 24 hours. The monetary value of a paid sick leave day is determined by multiplying the applicable hourly figures times the employee's regular hourly wage rate as that wage rate is set forth in Appendix A.

Section 2: Accumulation

An employee may accumulate a total of one thousand and eight hundred (1,800) hours of paid sick leave benefit.

The accumulated hours of paid sick leave provided for in this section 2 may only be used for purposes of non-work related, personal illness, or family illness, and as provided for in Article 38, Section 4C(1).

Section 3: Entitlement for Use

3.1: Personal Illness

The only reason for sick leave is personal or family illness. Any employee gainfully employed or acting as an independent contractor while receiving paid sick leave benefits, will be disqualified from any entitlement under this Article. The employee who has, while being gainfully employed or acting as an independent contractor, received benefits under this article, shall reimburse the City for the amount of

benefits paid. Failure to reimburse the City shall result in withholding the annual grant of two hundred eighty-eight hours (288) of paid sick leave benefits provided for in Section 1 herein, until the amount of hours improperly paid out are accounted for.

In the case of a family illness of an extended family member, the Fire Chief or in his absence his designee will be the sole authority in granting a paid absence from work. Such a paid absence shall be charged against the employee's accumulated paid sick leave benefits.

For the purposes of this article, "family" shall include children, spouse, parents or stepchildren living within the employee household. While stepchildren must live within the employees' household, children of the employee may share a residence with the other parent.

3.2: Family Sick Leave Act

Sick leave may be used when it is necessary to care for immediate family members (Spouse, Children, or Parent) not living within the employee's household, in accordance with the Family Sick Leave Act.

3.3: Family Medical Leave Act

Employees may utilize vacation, convenience, or unpaid leave to care for immediate family members (Spouse, Children or Parent) not living within the employee's household, in accordance with the Family Medical Leave Act.

3.4: Paid Family Medical Leave Law

The City Of Waterville will take whatever action necessary to comply with the Maine Paid Family Medical Leave Act, including but not limited to remitting payment for premiums to the State as required by law. The parties agree that half of the remittance shall be deducted from the employee's pay.

Section 4: In Excess of 3 Days

The employer may in its discretion require the employee to visit a physician designated by the City. If the City designated Physician determines the employee is not ill, no sick leave benefits will be paid. After three (3) separate incidents of sick leave benefits within a calendar year or where illness is at frequent intervals or causing an absence from work, the employee may be required by the employer to obtain a statement from a physician of the employee's choice stating the specific nature and the projected duration of the illness. If the employer disagrees with the statement of the employee's physician, the employer has the right to require the employee to undergo a physical examination by a physician designated by the City. If the physician designated by the City disagrees with the conclusion reached by the employee's physician, benefit payments hereunder will cease. Failure of the employee to meet and submit to a physical examination by the physician selected by the City will also cause benefits to cease. The employee may request that the question of his or her physical condition be submitted to a third

physician mutually selected by the parties. Such request shall be made within ten (10) calendar days from receipt of notice of the results of the City-designated Physician, or ten (10) calendar days from the date of receipt of certified mailing, whichever first occurs. Agreement on the selection of the third physician shall not be unreasonably withheld and the cost of such physician will be borne equally by the parties. The opinion of the third physician shall be final and binding. The employee must submit to a physical examination if the third physician deems such examination is necessary to a determination.

Section 5: Certificate of Fitness

Any employee returning to work from a major injury or illness whether job related or not, shall be required to obtain a certificate of fitness from the employee's physician to the effect that the employee can perform the duties of the employee's position, as required by Title 30-A MRSA § 3154. In the event the City's designated physician disagrees as to the ability to perform the normal duties of the job position, the question of the employees' ability to perform the normal duties of the job position may be submitted to a third physician. Such third physician shall be mutually agreeable to the parties and such mutual agreement shall not be unreasonably withheld. The cost of the third physician shall be borne equally between the parties. The decision of the third physician as to the employee's ability to perform the normal duties of the job position as required by Title 30-A MRSA § 3154 shall be final and binding. If required, the employee shall submit to a physical by the city's physician and the third physician.

In the event that the employee is determined not able to perform the normal duties of the job position, the employee may request accumulated, but unused, sick leave benefits. Any entitlement to workers' compensation benefits will be provided for in accordance with the law. The employee shall retain seniority accumulated to the date of the third physician's determination and such accumulated seniority shall be reinstated if the employee returns to work at some date in the future. Any return to work in the future is subject to the provisions of this Section 5.

No other entitlement or benefits under this agreement shall be available to the employee, other than vested retirement benefits or as required by law. Two (2) years after the initial attempt to return to work the employee shall be determined to be terminated just by passage of time, unless terminated earlier.

Section 6: Definition of Physician

A physician as that term is used in this Article and anywhere else in this agreement is defined as one who is required to be registered under the provisions of Title 32 MRSA §§ 2581 & 3270 as defined by the Attorney General's opinion of May 13, 1980, or a licensed chiropractor in accordance with Title 5 MRSA § 12004-A Subsection 8.

Section 7: Adjustment of Vacation Time to Sick Time

If an employee is out of work on approved vacation leave and becomes ill or is injured, the employee may request that his/her vacation time be adjusted to reflect sick time. In order for this to occur, the employee must provide a note from a physician stating that due to an illness or injury, the employee is not able to perform the essential functions of his/her position. This note must state the duration of the restriction(s) from work.

Section 8: Paternity Leave

The City of Waterville agrees to grant up to two (2) weeks of paid sick leave, from the birth of the child, for paternity leave after a request is presented in writing to the Human Resource Office, provided the employee has sufficient accumulated sick leave.

Any additional time requested must be reviewed to determine if it qualifies for sick time, or if vacation and/or convenience time, if available in the leave bank will be utilized. In order for additional sick time to be granted, a certificate of illness needs to be presented to the Human Resource Office from the employee's spouses' physician stating that she needs the employee's assistance due to a short-term disability related to the birth of the child.

All time used for paternity leave will be subject to the Family and Medical Leave Act. An employee must have been an active, full-time employee for more than twelve (12) months and worked at least 1,250 hours within the last twelve months for the employee to qualify for paid paternity leave. Any employee may request the use of unpaid leave if he has been employed for less than twelve (12) months or does not have any accumulated time in his leave bank.

Section 9: Entitlement Upon Termination

Upon termination of employment from the City, no individual will be eligible for reimbursement of accrued sick leave.

Section 10: Sick Free Incentive

The City agrees to grant a twenty-four hour sick free incentive day off with pay to employees who go twelve (12) months (July 1 – June 30) without utilizing any sick leave. Any employee who wishes to use the sick free incentive day must request approval of a specific date from the Fire Chief. Such request for approval must be at least seven days prior to the requested date unless the Chief waives the seven-day requirement. No sick free incentive day may be taken without the Chief's approval. No two individuals on the same shift may take vacation and/or a sick free incentive day at the same time. See Appendix G.

Section 11: Accumulated Sick Leave

An employee entitled to the accumulated sick leave above the maximum accrual allowance on June 30, 2011, who suffers a serious illness after July 1, 2011, shall be entitled to the number of hours of sick leave benefit for which the employee was entitled to as of June 30, 2011. See Exhibit A. If an employee has exhausted all available leave benefits, the employee may request, in writing, the use of said leave in Exhibit A.

A serious illness shall be defined to mean a life-threatening situation resulting from illness, disease or accident, or alternatively defined as a situation resulting from illness, disease or accident which situation is under continuous medical treatment, by a physician.

Section 12: Sick Leave Usage Pay

An employee will be charged the actual number of hours that are missed from their regularly scheduled workday when utilizing sick leave, up to 24 hours per day. Because employees are paid an average 42-hour week, if an employee misses two (2) regularly scheduled shifts, for a total of 48 hours, 42 hours of sick leave will be paid and the remaining six (6) hours of unpaid sick leave. This will remove the hours from the employees accrued sick leave bank without paying the employee more than the average 42-hour workweek as described in Article 8, Section 5.

If any employee utilizes one (1) day (24 hours), the remaining 18 hours will be paid as regular pay, unless other leave time is utilized.

Section 13: Sick Leave Buyback

Upon retirement in good standing an employee may cash out up to ten (10) days of sick leave. The employee accumulated sick leave will be paid out at the employees' regular hourly rate at the time of retirement. For the purpose of this article, a "day" shall be considered twenty-four (24) hours.

ARTICLE 14 – DRIVING OF FIRE DEPARTMENT VEHICLES

Section 1: Fire Apparatus

Fire apparatus includes, but is no limited to, Tower 1, Engine 2, Engine 3, Hazmat 1, ARFF, and those vehicles that generally require significant specialized training.

Section 2: Full Time Staff

The Union reserves the right to operate fire apparatus. No fire apparatus shall at any time be driven by any other person but a full-time employee or spare driver or the Chief, Deputy Chief, or Training Coordinator, except in case of emergency. Full-time employees shall have first call on driving the vehicles. The Union reserves the right to grievance procedures if the Union thinks the Fire Chief has erred in deciding as to what constitutes an emergency. It is understood that the right of the Fire Chief to

drive departmental vehicles shall not be used by the City to avoid overtime. This section shall not apply when departmental vehicles are out of service because of mechanical failure and/or repairs.

Section 3: Spare Drivers

The Fire Chief shall select up to eight (8) qualified spare drivers and have the names of these drivers posted on the bulletin board.

Section 4: Auxiliary Apparatus

Auxiliary apparatus includes, but is not limited to, the rescue, ambulance, utility pickups, and SUVs.

Section 5: On-Call and Per Diem

The Fire Chief may hire on-call and per diem employees to supplement the current work force. On-call and per diem employees will not be part of the bargaining unit. On-call and per diem staff may drive auxiliary apparatus, once fully trained. It is understood that the right of on-call and per diem staff to drive department vehicles shall not be used to avoid overtime.

In the event of an emergency, after overtime rules have been exhausted, overtime slots may be filled with spare drivers or duly trained call force members prior to forcing in full-time staff to fill the overtime upon approval of the Fire Chief.

ARTICLE 15 – RIGHT OF SUBSTITUTION

The City agrees that any two individuals may, solely at their opinion, if they are qualified to perform work, to substitute for one another during scheduled work hours in performance of work in the same capacity. The hours worked shall be excluded by the City in calculation of the hours for which the substituting employee is entitled to overtime compensation under this agreement or by reason of any applicable law. The Union agrees that the City is under no obligation to keep a record of the hours of the substitute's work.

The right of substitution is contingent upon the employee notifying the Chief in writing of his/her substitute by completing a Shift Swap Request Form or the use of an overtime software program to include the date(s) and time(s) of the substitution, at least four (4) hours in advance of the substitution. If four (4) hours prior written notification is not feasible, the employee may notify the Chief, or in his/her absence, the shift commander orally of the substitute and substitution period as soon as reasonably possible.

A shift swap is an agreement between the two employees, therefore if one of the employees fails to show up for their portion of the swap, the employee originally scheduled will be called and requested to report to work. If that employee cannot be reached or is unavailable to cover the shift, there shall be no

punishment for that employee, and the shift will then be treated as a regular call out and filled using the same procedures as any other overtime shift.

The employee that swapped hours will not lose any overtime worked within that pay week.

If an employee working an extra tour of duty utilizes swap time, the employee does not receive convenience time.

Convenience time will be filled according to the overtime rules adopted on July 1, 2004, as shown in Appendix E.

<u>ARTICLE 16 – WORKING OUT OF CLASSIFICATION</u>

When any full-time employee of the Fire Department is assigned to work temporarily in a higher classification, he/she shall be compensated at the rate of pay at the higher classification, which shall include years of service.

When an employee is working in a lower classification, he/she shall be paid at the higher classification rate. Such employee will be subject to the direction and control of whoever is commanding the shift. If a Battalion Chief is working in a lower classification, the Battalion Chief will be placed in charge of the shift, regardless if the shift captain is present.

This Article does not pertain to the Captain when a Battalion Chief is absent.

<u>ARTICLE 17 – INFORMAL GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE</u>

Grievance Committee and Monthly Meetings: Employees selected by the Union to act as Union Representatives shall be known as "Stewards". The names of employees selected as Stewards, and the names of other Union Representatives, who may represent employees, shall be certified in writing to the employer by the local Union, and the individuals so certified shall constitute the Union Grievance Committee.

All Grievance Committee meetings held with City shall be held during working hours, on City premises and without loss of pay.

The City agrees to protect the pay of two (2) members of the Grievance Committee.

The purpose of the Grievance Committee meetings will be adjusted pending grievances and to discuss procedures for avoiding future grievances. In addition, the Committee may discuss with the employer other issues, which would improve the relationship between the parties.

ARTICLE 18 – SETTLEMENT OF DISPUTES

Section 1: Grievance and Arbitration Procedure

Any grievance or dispute which may arise between the parties (including the application, meaning or interpretation of this Agreement) shall be settled in the following manner:

Step 1: In order to raise a dispute with the City under this Agreement, the Union President or their designee, on behalf of the entire Union or an employee, must bring the matter giving rise to the dispute to the attention of the Fire Chief. This shall be done in writing within ten (10) calendar days of the occurrence that gave rise to the dispute, or within ten (10) calendar days from when the Union should have reasonably been expected to know of the occurrence that gave rise to the dispute.

Nothing in this Article shall be deemed to deny an aggrieved unit employee the right to present their own grievance as set forth in Title 26, M.R.S.A. In such event, the aggrieved employee shall forward a copy of the grievance being filed with any and all supporting information and material to the Fire Chief and the President of the Union. In addition, the Union shall have the right to be present at any meeting between the City and the aggrieved employee filing a grievance under this Article. No resolution of a grievance under this provision shall be inconsistent with the provisions of this Agreement or create or revise current working conditions. The Union will be provided with a copy of any decision rendered by the City under this section.

The Fire Chief shall respond in writing within ten (10) calendar days of the receipt of the write-up of the dispute.

Step 2: The Union may appeal to the City Manager, in writing, the decision of the Fire Chief. This appeal must be made within ten (10) calendar days of receipt of the Chief's decision. The City Manager must give his/her response, in writing, within ten (10) calendar days of his/her receipt of the dispute.

Step 3: If the dispute remains unresolved at the City Manager level, the Union has the right to request arbitration of the dispute. Such request must be in writing and must be submitted to the City Manager within fourteen (14) calendar days of the City Manager's decision.

The arbitration proceedings shall be in conformity with the rules and regulations of the Board of Arbitration and Conciliation of the State of Maine. The arbitrator's decision shall be final and binding, but the arbitrator shall have no authority to add to, subtract from, modify or vary this Agreement.

ARTICLE 19 - CLOTHING PURCHSE AND MAINTENANCE ALLOWANCE

Section 1: Amount Authorized

Each permanent member of the Fire Department shall receive a clothing purchase and maintenance allowance up to:

\$650.00 on each July 1st.

All purchases of clothing using this money shall be approved by the Chief of the Fire Department.

Section 2: Clothing Allowance Balance

Employees have the right to request reimbursement, up to \$250.00, of his/her clothing purchasing and maintenance allowance prior to April 1st of each year.

ARTICLE 20 – PROTECTION OF PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

It shall be the responsibility of any employee having custody of any equipment and property to see that it is properly cared for, kept clean, and returned to its place of storage.

ARTICLE 21 – LABOR REQUIREMENTS

In justice and fairness to the City and taxpayers, all employees shall be required to report to work on time, shall not leave the job early, shall be prompt in reporting to their assigned duties and shall faithfully perform their duties.

ARTICLE 22 - NO STRIKE OR LOCK OUT

The Union agrees that there shall be no strikes, slowdowns of work, or any interference with the efficient management of the Fire Department during the term of this Agreement. The City, in return, agrees that there shall be no lockout of employees of the Fire Department during the term of this Agreement.

Nothing in the above paragraph shall be construed so as to conflict with applicable state law.

ARTICLE 23 – INSURANCE PROGRAM

Section 1: Health Insurance Coverage

All regular, full-time employees are eligible for coverage under the Maine Municipal Employees Health Trust, which provides for health and major medical, and prescription drug benefits. When elected by the employee, coverage becomes effective the 1st of the month following date of hire. The City offers two plans.

(a) PPO-500

The City will provide employees insurance coverage at 77.5% of the premium cost and the employee will contribute 22.5% of the premium cost of the elected coverage under this plan.

The City will also fund a Health Reimbursement Account (HRA) as noted below:

Single coverage - \$500 deductible and \$1,000 co-insurance for a total of \$1,500.

Family coverage - \$1,000 deductible and \$1,500 co-insurance for a total of \$2,500.

(b) POS-C

The City will provide employees the option to stay with the current POS-C insurance plan. The City will pay the same dollar amount that equals 77.5% of the cost of the PPO-500 premium plus the cost of the HRA for the deductible only. Employees will be responsible for the remainder of the premium of the elected coverage under this plan. The City will not provide any HRA for employees opting to stay in the POS-C plan.

Section 2: Dental Insurance

Dental insurance is provided for the employee at no cost; however, employees are responsible for 50% of the cost of dependent coverage.

Section 3: Life, Accidental Death, Disability Insurance

All regular, full-time employees are provided with group life insurance, accidental death and dismemberment, and weekly disability pay according to the following:

Group Life Insurance

Group life insurance, through Maine Municipal Association, is provided in the amount of the employee's annual salary up to a maximum of \$100,000.

Life, Accidental Death and Dismemberment, Income Protection

Under a contract with Boston Mutual Insurance Co., the City provides for life insurance and AD&D benefits at Two Thousand Dollars (\$2,000). Income disability is provided at Forty Dollars (\$40). There is a forty-four (44) day waiting period and a twenty-six (26) week benefit period.

Employees are eligible for the weekly disability income insurance as outlined above when the inability to work is not work-related. An employee receiving weekly disability benefit has the option of receiving the entire amount of the benefit or their sick leave pay. Employees choosing the latter option must turn over their disability pay to the City. Upon doing so, the employee will be credited with sick leave in proportion to the monetary value of the disability pay returned to the City. Employees choosing to retain their disability pay will not be paid for sick time.

Contact the Human Resource Office for specifics.

Section 4: Short-Term Disability Insurance

Under the MMEHT Income Protection Plan, the City will provide disability insurance at the employee's cost. This cost will be set up as a payroll deduction for the employee.

Section 5: Contract Reopener

The Union and the City agree that the City may open the contract to negotiate changes in the current insurance coverage. If the contract is reopened for insurance, both parties agree that it will also be reopened for wages.

ARTICLE 24 – GENERAL PROVISIONS

Section 1: Pledge Against Discrimination and Coercion

The provisions of this Agreement shall be applied equally to all employees in the bargaining unit without discrimination as to age, marital status, sex, race, color, creed, national origin, or political

affiliation. The Union shall share equally with the employer the responsibility for applying this provision of the Agreement.

The employer agrees not to interfere with the rights of the employees to become members of the Union, and there shall be no discrimination, interference, restraint or coercion by the employer, or any employer representative, against any employee because of Union membership or because of any employee activity in an official capacity on behalf of the Union, or for any other cause.

The Union recognizes its responsibility as bargaining agent and agrees to represent all employees in the bargaining unit without discrimination, interference, restraint or coercion.

ARTICLE 25 – UNION ACTIVITIES AND ACCESS

Section 1: Furnish Bulletin Boards

The City agrees to furnish and maintain suitable bulletin boards in convenient places to be used by the Union. The Union shall limit its postings of notices and bulletins to such bulletin boards.

Section 2: Allowable Activity

The City agrees that during working hours on the City premises, without loss of pay, Union Stewards and alternates shall be allowed to:

- a. Post union notices;
- b. Transmit communications, authorized by the local Union or its officers, to the City or its representatives;
- c. Consult with the Fire Chief, or his/her representative, local union officers, or other union officers, or other Union Representatives concerning the enforcement of any provision of this Agreement within reasonable limits.

Section 3: Visits by Union Representatives

Authorized agents of the Union shall have access to department premises during working hours for the purpose of adjusting disputes, investigating working conditions, collection of dues, and ascertaining that the Agreement is being adhered to, provided however, there is no interruption of the City's work schedule.

ARTICLE 26 – WORK RULES

Section 1: Work Rules Posted When Changed

When existing work rules are changed, or new rules are established, they shall be posted on all bulletin boards, with a copy sent to the President, Vice President, and Secretary/Treasurer of IAFF Local 1608 to become effective immediately.

Section 2: Informing Employees

The employer agrees to furnish such employees in the bargaining unit with a copy of all existing work rules thirty (30) days after they become effective. New employees shall be provided with a copy of the rules at the time of hire.

Section 3: Enforcing

Employees shall comply with all existing reasonable work rules that are not in conflict with this Agreement, provided the rules are uniformly applied and uniformly enforced.

Any unresolved complaint as to the reasonableness of any new or existing rules, or any complaint involving discrimination in the grievance procedure shall be resolved by the grievance procedure.

ARTICLE 27 - PROTECTIVE CLOTHING

Section1: Employer's Obligation to Provide

All new employees will be provided with a complete set of protective clothing at the City's expense. The cost of maintaining, but not the cost of replacement of such protective clothing, shall be paid from the clothing allowance.

ARTICLE 28 – WAGES

Section 1: Referral to Appendix A

Wages that are in effect during the term of the collective bargaining agreement are set forth in the attached Appendix A.

Wages will be increased as follows:

July 1, 2025 9.0% COLA

July 1, 2026 8.0% COLA

July 1, 2027 8.0% COLA

Section 2: Outside Work Detail

When outside work is specifically requested, regular employees and call members of the Fire Department shall share each job on a fifty-fifty (50/50) basis. The call member working the detail with the regular employee must meet the minimum requirements of Firefighter 1 and licensed as an EMT-B.

At such time as specific detail requires an odd number of employees, or a single employee, a regular employee shall be used to fill the extra position.

The City will not be subject to grievance or loss of pay claim, should an error be made by assignment under this Agreement. However, any error shall be rectified when the next work assignment for outside work is requested by adjustments in the percentage of assigned employees to the detail.

Section 3: Wages - Overtime

In the event that a need for overtime should occur in the department, overtime pay shall be paid at the rate of one and one-half the employee's regular rate of pay for all hours worked that are not included in his/her scheduled work week as defined in this Agreement.

It is agreed that for purposes of computing hours actually worked, the following shall be considered time worked:

- 1. Time spent on bereavement leave, if scheduled to work on days of absence.
- 2. Hours attending school while on duty.

Overtime shifts will be assigned based upon the existing "overtime board" rules as attached in Appendix E.

Overtime shifts will be filled based upon the rules adopted on July 1, 2004 as attached in Appendix F.

Section 4: Meal Time - Special Holidays

Special Provision – Meal time of two (2) hours will be allowed, with the approval of the Fire Chief, when an employee works on Christmas Day or Thanksgiving Day.

On Christmas the oncoming shift will be allowed to come in at 09:00 to allow for time with the Member's family in the morning. Those members holding over shall be paid at one and one-half (1-1/2) the regular hourly rate.

Section 5: Stipends

Effective July 1, 2019, all stipends listed in this section will be paid on an hourly basis for all hours worked. This additional amount is not included in any cola increase.

STIPEND	ANNUAL	WEEKLY	HOURLY	HOURLY
	STIPEND	AMOUNT	DIFFERENTIAL FOR	DIFFERENTIAL FOR
			ALL REGULAR	ALL OVERTIME
			HOURS OVER 42	HOURS WORKED
			HOURS IN ONE PAY	
			WEEK	
Fire Inspector	\$ 450.00	\$ 8.64	\$ 0.21	\$ 0.32
Fire Investigator	\$ 450.00	\$ 8.64	\$ 0.21	\$ 0.32
Maintenance Overseer	\$ 450.00	\$ 8.64	\$ 0.21	\$ 0.32
Municipal Fire Alarms	\$ 450.00	\$ 8.64	\$ 0.21	\$ 0.32

Any firefighter that starts a position during the year will begin receiving the differential pay on the next available payroll. Any firefighter that stops a position during the year will no longer receive the differential on the next available payroll.

To receive the Fire Inspector stipend, the employee must maintain the NFPA Fire Inspector 1 certification and conduct a minimum of twelve (12) inspections annually.

To receive the Fire Investigator stipend, the employee must complete a minimum of eight (8) hours of continuing education and participate in a minimum of three (3) fire investigations annually.

Section 6 – Lateral Entry

The City has the right to hire a firefighter at a higher starting wage to recognize experience in the Fire Service outside of the City of Waterville.

- 1. To recognize, for wages and vacation, year for year actual full-time service, up to 20 years of service. The Fire Chief has the discretion to recognize part-time or volunteer service on a case-by-case basis for lateral entry.
- 2. The employee will follow Article 5 for seniority purposes.
- 3. The employee will change steps on the pay scale based on the actual years of service. (For example: An employee is hired thru lateral entry at the Start of 2 Years step. The employee would not move to the next step on the pay scale until the employee starts his/her 5th year of employment.)
- 4. The employee will receive vacation leave after three (3) months of employment.

ARTICLE 29 – PRIOR RIGHTS

Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as abridging any rights, benefits, or privileges that permanent, uniformed fire fighters have enjoyed heretofore, unless it is specifically superseded by a provision of this Agreement. The parties agree to meet and negotiate changes in past practices, which will affect working conditions. Nothing in this section shall be construed as negating inherent management rights.

All past practices with economic impact that existed as of the date of this contract have been incorporated into this contract.

ARTICLE 30 – UNION MEETINGS

Union meetings, with the permission of the Chief, may be held at Central Fire Station.

ARTICLE 31 – JURY DUTY

Section 1: Jury Duty

Any member of the Fire Department shall be granted leave of absence at such times as they are required to report for jury duty or jury service. The employee will be paid their regular wage and shall turn over any and all compensation received for jury service. If the employee is discharged from daily jury duty and is still within their scheduled workday, they shall immediately return to work. Monies received for any required court appearance while on a regularly scheduled day off shall not be subject to the above.

Section 2: Court Time

Any employee who attends court as a witness under subpoena out of his/her employment as an employee of the Waterville Fire Department during his/her regular shift, while obeying a subpoena for a criminal matter shall be paid their regular wage while he/she is legally required to be present in court. When such presence is not required, he/she shall work his/her duty shift. Employees that are obeying a subpoena for a criminal matter related to his/her employment will be paid mileage from Central Fire Station to the Court and back.

Employees that are required to attend court on a regularly scheduled day off as witness under subpoena arising out of his/her employment as an employee of the Waterville Fire Department, will be paid overtime compensation at the rate of time and one-half for every hour or fraction of an hour they are in attendance or appearance for testifying in court.

ARTICLE 32 - CIVIL DISTURBANCE

In the event of civil disturbance, no fire fighter shall be conferred with the responsibility of arrest, custody or specific law enforcement duties; however, this provision shall not prohibit the use of fire fighters and department equipment for crowd and traffic control, and they may be deputized for this purpose.

ARTICLE 33 - DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURE

Section 1: Right of Employer to Suspend/Discharge

The City shall have the right to suspend or discharge an employee for just cause. The Union shall have the right to take up any suspension or discharge case, except for suspension or discharge of a probationary employee, as a grievance within seven (7) working days after such suspension or discharge takes place, and such case shall be subject to review under the grievance procedures beginning in Step 1.

Any employee whose action appears to necessitate his/her discharge shall first be suspended subject to discharge and so be informed by prior, written notice including the reasons for the action with

the current notice to go to the appropriate union officer or grievance official. If no request for a grievance procedure is made within seven (7) days, the action taken by the City department representative shall be final.

Grievances growing out of discharges, layoffs, demotions and transfers shall be subject to the grievance procedure, but no arbitrator shall have the power to substitute his/her judgment for that of management in respect thereto, or to overrule the decision of management in respect thereto unless he/she finds that management acted arbitrarily, in bad faith, without reason, or in violation of the express terms of this Agreement. The City or department shall, in all instances, give notice to the Union of such discharge within a reasonable time.

The following are declared to be among the causes for disciplinary action, which may include reprimand, suspension, reduction in pay, demotion or discharge. Disciplinary action may be based on justifiable causes other than those enumerated herein:

- 1. Incompetence
- 2. Neglect of duty
- 3. Violation of city department rules, but rules that in no way abridge the civil rights of the employees.
- 4. Insubordination.

For minor infraction of the generally accepted rules and procedures of the department, the following procedure shall prevail. Minor infractions are classified as those less than suspendable:

First offense: oral reprimand by the Chief or Shift Supervisor;

Second offense: written reprimand by the Chief or Shift Supervisor and/or Director of Personnel.

Third offense: Notification by the Chief of the Fire Department or the City Manager of suspension from work for one week with loss of pay and written notification to the employee's Union Steward not later than two (2) working days after the date of suspension charge, with a copy of the notice to the Union Steward upon consent of the employee.

Fourth offense: Notification by the Chief of the Fire Department with a recommendation to the City Manager to the employee for dismissal without severance pay or other benefits.

Acts such as dishonesty, disorderly conduct, failure to report to work or duty without bona fide reasons, deliberate destruction of City property or other employee property and disobedience will be the cause of immediate suspension or discharge.

Coming to work under the influence of alcohol or drugs or drinking of intoxicants of the taking of drugs on the job or City premises or property while working, shall be cause of immediate discharge. The exception shall be the taking of drugs as authorized or permitted by a physician or osteopath. The taking of drugs as authorized or permitted by a physician or osteopath must be reported to the Chief and the limiting effects the drug has on the physical condition of the individual must be disclosed.

Disciplinary action against an employee for minor infractions, those less than suspendable, shall be purged from the employee's personnel file after twelve (12) months if there is no reoccurrence of the

infraction within the time period. Disciplinary action against an employee for major infractions, those of a suspendable nature, shall be purged from the employee's personnel file after thirty-six (36) months if there is no reoccurrence of the infraction within the time period.

Section 2: Indemnity

The City shall indemnify an employee of the Fire Department while in the proper exercise and performance of his/her duties within the scope of his/her employment as a fire fighter, captain, fire medic, fire aemt, fire paramedic, and/or battalion chief for reasonable loss, expenses or damages incurred by him/her for which he/he may be held or become liable by reasons of personal injuries, including death, to persons in connection with the performance of these duties as a fire fighter, captain, fire medic, fire aemt, fire paramedic, and/or battalion chief and from damages to property arising out of the operation of a Fire Department motor vehicle.

ARTICLE 34 – FIRE CALLS

A full-time employee may respond to fire calls, rescue squad calls, or company calls when off duty. The fire fighters at the station when a call comes in, whether or not they are currently on duty may respond to the call if requested.

Box alarms, rescue squad calls, and company calls are to summons fire fighters to respond. Each call represents two (2) hours minimum paid time.

<u>ARTICLE 35 – RETIREMENT</u>

Effective January 1, 2021, the plan will be the Special Plan 3C under the PLD Consolidated Plan with Maine Public Employees Retirement System prospectively.

ARTICLE 36 - PHYSICAL FITNESS PROGRAM

In recognition of the importance of physical fitness in the general health and well-being of firefighters and in consideration of the relationship between good health and effective, efficient fire service, the following physical fitness/weight control program is instituted.

- 1. PHYSICAL EXAMINATIONS: For all firefighters, there will be a required physical fitness evaluation a maximum of three times per contract year. The categories of fitness and performance standards are listed in Appendix C.
- 2. PARTICIPATION OF FIREFIGHTERS: Participation in the physical fitness evaluations is required. Any firefighter failing to participate in good faith in a physical fitness evaluation without a valid excuse will be subject to discipline, pursuant to Article 14, of the contract. A fire fighter will not be evaluated during his/her vacation.

Firefighters will be required to maintain a rating of "adequate" or better on each of the physical evaluation standards, as provided for in Appendix C. This is outlined at the end of this Article.

The City and Union agree to meet to determine new physical evaluation standards for firefighters and fire medics. Once both sides agree to the new physical evaluation standards, the standards will be added to the contract thru a Memorandum of Understanding.

- 3. EVALUATION TIME: The City agrees to pay off-duty firefighters at the rate of time and one half for a minimum of two hours for participation in the physical fitness evaluation. If the evaluation of an off-duty firefighter is interrupted by a fire call or emergency, the firefighter will be paid time and one half for a minimum of two hours, and the evaluation will be rescheduled as necessary. It is agreed that the firefighters are covered by Workers' Compensation while participating in the physical fitness evaluations.
- 4. TRAINING TIME: Firefighters are required to follow the individualized fitness program (approximately one hour in length) developed by the Fitness Trainer while on duty. Determination of whether a firefighter injured in such a training program off duty is entitled to Workers' Compensation coverage, if disputed, should ultimately be determined by the Workers' Compensation Commission.
- 5. NUTRITION: Firefighters may consult with the Fitness Trainer on proper nutrition and eating habits.
- 6. MEDICAL CONSULTANT: The medical consultant of the program will be a physician chosen by the City. The Fitness Trainer may refer a Firefighter to the Medical Consultant if the need arises. If the City decides to change medical consultants, to insure confidence and continuity in the program, it agrees to discuss replacements with the Union before the City makes its decision.
- 7. MEDICAL CONSENT: Each employee agrees to sign the Medical Consent form attached as Appendix B. The results of the fitness evaluation will be delivered to the Fire Chief and the City Manager. The individual test results of identified firefighters are confidential as provided by law. Statistical results without identifying firefighters are not confidential records. The results will be presented on the form as outlined in Appendix D.
- 8. DISCIPLINE PROCESS: All fire fighters will be required to maintain a rating of "adequate" or better on the performance standards attached (see Appendix C). If the Fitness Trainer determines that these standards are too difficult, it may relax one or more of the standards. Any fire fighter who fails to achieve both an "adequate" level or better on a physical fitness evaluation shall be subjected to the pre-discipline/discipline procedure outlined below:
 - 1. The firefighter is advised orally of the need to improve and invited to discuss the situation.
- 2. If the firefighter has improved significantly, but not enough, he/she is advised orally with written confirmation of the areas in which he/she needs to improve. If the firefighter has not improved significantly, he/she proceeds to Step 1 below.

DISCIPLINE

- Step 1. A written warning (reprimand) indicating the firefighter may be suspended the next is given. The fire fighter will be required to meet with his/her supervisor to discuss the situation.
- Step 2. If the firefighter does not achieve a rating of adequate or better by the next evaluation, the firefighter is subject to suspension for ten (10) calendar days.

Step 3. If the firefighter has not complied by the next evaluation following Step 2, the firefighter will be subject to suspension for 30 calendar days.

Step 4. If the firefighter has not complied by the next evaluation following Step 3, the firefighter is subject to discharge.

If a firefighter subject to one of the disciplinary steps above achieves a rating of adequate on his/her physical evaluation he/she reverts to the pre-disciplinary procedure.

9. INCENTIVE:

Any firefighter scoring "Excellent" in the stair step test, and "good" or better in one test and "Excellent" in all others during an evaluation will receive a taxable bonus of \$50.00.

10. WELLNESS VISIT INCENTIVE: The City will provide up to two (2) wellness visits per year at a practitioner of their choice. The employee may choose to visit another provider, and the City will pay up to \$35.00 with receipt of payment to the practitioner. If an employee opts to participate in a wellness visit, the employee will receive a \$100.00 taxable bonus, with a maximum of \$200.00 per fiscal year. All employees must provide documentation stating the date of the visit and the medical practitioners' name and address. Employees will not be allowed to schedule these appointments during their normal workday.

ARTICLE 37 - WORKERS' COMPENSATION LEAVE

An employee may request payment of sick leave benefits. If the employee receives a compensation award, all rights to utilize sick leave benefits ceases as of the effective date of the award. Sick leave used in the circumstances described in the above paragraph will not be recredited unless the compensation award, and the accompanying insurance check, includes a period of time for which sick leave benefits have been paid. If the compensation award and the accompanying check or checks include a period of time for which sick leave benefits have been paid, the employee must negotiate the award check or checks to the order of the City. Award checks negotiated to the City shall result in recrediting of sick leave on the basis for every dollar of compensation award to be equal to the same number of dollars of gross payroll paid out in sick leave benefits. The employee has the option to pay back any difference in the recredit of sick leave benefits up to the total amount of sick leave gross dollars paid out. This option must be exercised by the employee within one year upon return to work.

ARTICLE 38 - DEATH IN FAMILY - TIME OFF

In the event of a death occurring in the immediate family, (mother, father, spouse, son, daughter, sister, brother, mother-in-law, father-in-law, grandparents), of a permanent member of the Fire Department, that member shall be granted two (2) consecutive days off, without loss of pay, following the day of death and one (1) day of interment; any such day off granted shall include "regularly-scheduled days off" if they happen to fall within the three-day period. It is understood that no pay be received for

scheduled days off, and time not be charged against sick leave. In the event of the death of other relatives, sufficient time to attend funeral, with approval of the Chief, may be granted up to four (4) hours.

<u>ARTICLE 39 – TRANSITIONAL WORK PROGRAM</u>

Section 1: Transitional Work

The City of Waterville believes that it is in the best interest of both the Waterville Professional Firefighter, IAFF Local 1608 member and the City to facilitate the expedient return of employees to full duty after he has suffered an absence due to an injury, illness, or failure to pass any required testing.

In order to promote the expedient return of such employees, when possible, a transitional work program will be provided for employees who cannot perform their full duty functions due to illness, phycial or mental injury. With prior written medical approval from the treating physician, the acceptance or non-acceptance of any employee into the program, the work assigned and/or the continuation of any employee in the program will be the sole responsibility of the Fire Chief. An employee may decline an offer to utilize the transitional work program, however if the employee declines, they will not be allowed to return to work until they have written medical documentation from their treating physician that they may return to work without limitations. If an employee is aggrieved by a decision of the Fire Chief the employee may appeal, in writing, to the City Manager. The City Manager, after discussion with the employee and Fire Chief, will respond within 15 days and such decision will be binding.

Employees engaged in a transitional work program may not be made to work overtime nor are they allowed to work overtime. Employees will work during the day Monday thru Friday only. The length of each day and number of days worked during transitional work will be determined based on the employees' restrictions. Employees will be compensated at their current wage rate. If the employee is out of work due to a workers' compensation injury, that employee will be paid the appropriate rate as described in Article 38, Workers Compensation Leave.

This program is a temporary measure – designed to last no more than three months. At the end of this period the employee is expected to be capable of returning to his or her previous full duty position, resuming his or her pre-injury duties without any job restrictions that interfere with full duty and/or essential functions of the position. In the event the employee cannot return to his or her pre-injury position, the City will consider an extension of up to one month. If the extension is not approved and the employee cannot return to his or her pre-injury position, the City may terminate the temporary transitional duty assignment. If an employee is removed from transitional duty, the employee will be allowed to utilize sick leave according to the terms of Article 13 of this contract.

An employee assigned to duties through the transitional work program will not be considered part of the minimum staff requirements per Article 8, Section 5 and Appendix G.

The City may revoke this policy at any time if the Fire Chief determines that the objectives outlined above are not being met.

Section 2: Transitional Work Maternity Policy

An employee that has received medical certification for the need for transitional work due to pregnancy will follow the Maternity Policy established by the Fire Chief as a standard operating procedure.

ARTCILE 40 – USE OF CITY PHYSICIAN – RESPIRATORY FITNESS

All employees shall be required to obtain a certificate of fitness from the City's physician to the effect that the employee can perform the duties of the employee's position, as required by Title 30-A MRSA § 3154. If the City Physician does not feel that the employee is able to perform the duties of the position, the employee has the right to seek a second opinion from a physician of his/her choosing. In the event the employee's physician disagrees with the City Physician's assessment as to the ability to perform the normal duties of the job, the question of the employee's ability to perform may be submitted to a third physician. Such third physician shall be mutually agreeable to the parties and such mutual agreement shall not be unreasonably withheld. The cost of the third physician shall be borne equally between the parties. The decision of the third physician as to the employee's ability to perform the normal duties of the job position as required by Title 30-A MRSA § 3154 shall be final and binding. If required, the employee shall submit to a physical by the City's Physician, personal physician, and the third physician.

In the event an employee is determined to be unable to perform the duties of the employee's position utilizing the process described above, then the City will assist the employee in filing any disability benefits available. As well, the City will consider the affected employee for other employment positions within the City. All tests required by the City Physician will be paid for by the City. Time spent in complying with medical testing requirements of the City Physician shall be considered compensable time. Mileage reimbursement shall be at the rate provided to all City employees.

ARTICLE 41 – LICENSE REQUIREMENTS

Section 1: Drivers License Suspensions for Non-Medical Reasons

An employee may be suspended without pay if the employee's license is suspended or revoked. The imposition of any suspension for more than six (6) months, or lasting more than six (6) months, shall result in termination of employment. An employee who receives a second suspension of license for any length of time shall be subject to immediate termination of employment.

The employee may be allowed to return to work during the period of suspension. The decision to allow an employee to return to work, and the length of time worked, is in the sole discretion of the Fire Chief. If the employee is allowed to return to work, the employee will be paid at the lowest Firefighter pay rate. The employee may use vacation and convenience time while not working during the period of

suspension. Remaining time will be without pay and there will be no accrual of benefits during the period the employee is not working.

Section 2: Drivers License Suspension for Medical Reasons

An employee whose license is suspended for medical reasons may request to be allowed to participate in the Transitional Work Program as described in Article 40.

Section 3: EMT License and Firefighter Certification

All employees of the department must maintain a current EMT-Basic license at all times. Employees hired after July 1, 2022, will be required to maintain an Advanced-EMT License. Failure to maintain this license may be cause for disciplinary action, up to and including termination, as described in Article 18 Settlement of Disputes.

The Fire Chief reserves the right to hire Firefighter/Drivers without a current EMT or Advanced-EMT license. The non-licensed new hire would be required to obtain the license within a reasonable time frame as established by the Fire Chief. Any non-licensed employee will continue to remain on probation until such time as the EMT or Advanced-EMT license is obtained, regardless of meeting the requirements in Article 10, Seniority.

The Fire Chief reserves the right to hire Fire Medics without Firefighter 1 certification. It will be determined by the Fire Chief if the employee will be required to obtain the certification. Should the Fire Chief require such certification, the employee will be given a reasonable time frame to obtain the certification.

ARTICLE 42 – FIRE MEDICS

The City and Union agree to allow the Fire Chief to use his/her discretion to hire qualified paramedics (Fire Medics) or advanced EMTs (Fire AEMTs) to fill up to four (4) positions within the bargaining unit. These positions are new positions and will be assigned to primarily work an EMS position in the department.

If a third ambulance is placed into service, the City reserves the right to hire up to eight (8) Fire Medics in lieu of the four (4) listed above. In this instance, there can be a maximum of two (2) Fire Medics per shift.

Fire Medics and Fire AEMT's will be included in the bargaining unit and will have duties associated with EMS, rescue, hazmat, fire prevention, and fireground operations. The City and the Union recognizes Fire Medics and Fire AEMT's will play a critical role on the fireground, but they will not be required to obtain interior firefighting qualifications, unless required under Article 41 of this Agreement. A job description has been created.

Should a Fire Medic or Fire AEMT meet the qualifications of a firefighter, they will be permitted to be utilized as a firefighter should the incident commander deem appropriate.

Fire Medics and Fire AEMT's will be paid based on the wage scale in Appendix A of this Agreement.

The Union agrees to allow the Fire Chief to use his/her discretion to hire a Fire Medic or Fire AEMT at a higher starting wage to recognize experience in EMS outside of the City of Waterville. The employee will follow Article 5 for seniority purposes.

The Union agrees to allow the Fire Chief to use his/her discretion to provide vacation entitlement to commensurate with experience in EMS outside of the City of Waterville.

Fire Medics and Fire AEMT's will be permitted to work overtime on the rescue, ambulances, and auxiliary equipment which includes special duty assignments commensurate with their job description.

The City agrees the Union will include Fire Medics and Fire AEMT's in the Overtime Board Rules outlined in Appendix E.

Fire AEMT's and Fire Medics will be required to complete a physical fitness assessment commensurate with their job responsibilities.

ARTICLE 43 – DURATION OF AGREEMENT

This Agreement shall be effective as of the July 1, 2025 and shall remain in full force and effect until the thirtieth day of June 2028. It shall be automatically renewed thereafter unless either party shall notify the other One-Hundred Twenty (120) days prior to June 30, 2028, of the desire to modify this Agreement. In the event that such a notice is given, negotiations shall begin no later than ten (10) days prior to June 30, 2028. However, either party to this Agreement may give ninety (90) days' notice to the other party prior to June 30, 2028, for preliminary negotiation sessions; the sessions shall be two (2) such sessions prior to the negotiation schedule as provided for in this Agreement, unless both parties mutually agree to meet more often. This Agreement shall remain in full force and effect during the period of negotiations and until notice of termination of this Agreement is provide to the other party as set forth in the following paragraph.

In the event that either party desires to terminate this Agreement, written notice must be given to the other party not less than ten (10) days prior to the desired termination date but shall not be before the anniversary date set forth in the preceding paragraph.

Upon request of either party, the contract will be reopened to negotiate changes relating to regionalization of services provided by the Fire Department.

This Agreement may be amended by mutual agreement between the City and the Union and executed in written form exactly as below:

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have set their hands this 18th day of March, 2025.

FOR THE CITY:

Bryan Kaenrath

City Manager

Jason Frost

Fire Chief

Bobbie-Jo Green

Human Resource Officer

FOR THE UNION:

Ryan Cote

President

Nicholas Huber

Vice President

Cormick Frizzell

Secretary/Treasurer

APPENDIX A - WAGES

		JULY 1, 20	25 – JUNE 30, 20	26			
9.0% COLA INCREASE							
	START	START YEAR	START YEAR	START YEAR	START YEAR		
		2 `	5	10	15	20	
NO CERT	\$18.87						
FIRE AEMT	\$23.58	\$24.29	\$25.02	\$25.77	\$26.55	\$27.36	
FIRE MEDIC	\$25.94	\$26.72	\$27.51	\$28.34	\$29.19	\$30.06	
FIRE MEDIC /	\$28.30	\$29.15	\$30.02	\$30.91	\$31.84	\$32.80	
CRITICAL CARE							
FF/EMT	\$23.58	\$24.29	\$25.02	\$25.77	\$26.55	\$27.36	
FF/AEMT	\$25.94	\$26.72	\$27.51	\$28.34	\$29.19	\$30.06	
FF/MEDIC	\$28.30	\$29.15	\$30.02	\$30.91	\$31.84	\$32.80	
CAPT/EMT	\$27.12	\$27.94	\$28.78	\$29.64	\$30.52	\$31.44	
CAPT/AEMT	\$29.47	\$30.36	\$31.26	\$32.21	\$33.18	\$34.17	
CAPT/MEDIC	\$31.83	\$32.79	\$33.77	\$34.78	\$35.83	\$36.90	
BC/EMT			\$33.60	\$34.61	\$35.65	\$36.73	
BC/AEMT			\$35.96	\$37.05	\$38.15	\$39.29	
BC/MEDIC			\$38.31	\$39.47	\$40.65	\$41.87	

		JULY 1, 20	026 – JUNE 30, 20	27		
		8.0% C	OLA INCREASE			
	START	START YEAR	START YEAR	START YEAR	START YEAR	START YEAR
		2	5	10	15	20
NO CERT	\$20.38					
FIRE AEMT	\$25.47	\$26.23	\$27.02	\$27.83	\$28.67	\$29.55
FIRE MEDIC	\$28.02	\$28.86	\$29.71	\$30.61	\$31.53	\$32.46
FIRE MEDIC /	\$30.56	\$31.48	\$32.42	\$33.38	\$34.39	\$35.42
CRITICAL CARE						
FF/EMT	\$25.47	\$26.23	\$27.02	\$27.83	\$28.67	\$29.55
FF/AEMT	\$28.02	\$28.86	\$29.71	\$30.61	\$31.53	\$32.46
FF/MEDIC	\$30.56	\$31.48	\$32.42	\$33.38	\$34.39	\$35.42
CAPT/EMT	\$29.29	\$30.18	\$31.08	\$32.01	\$32.96	\$33.96
CAPT/AEMT	\$31.83	\$32.79	\$33.76	\$34.79	\$35.83	\$36.90
CAPT/MEDIC	\$34.38	\$35.41	\$36.47	\$37.56	\$38.70	\$39.85
BC/EMT			\$36.29	\$37.38	\$38.50	\$39.67
BC/AEMT			\$38.84	\$40.01	\$41.20	\$42.43
BC/MEDIC			\$41.37	\$42.63	\$43.90	\$45.22

		JULY 1, 20	027 – JUNE 30, 20	28		
		8.0% C	OLA INCREASE			
	START	START YEAR	START YEAR	START YEAR	START YEAR	START YEAR
		2	5	10	15	20
NO CERT	\$22.01					
FIRE AEMT	\$27.51	\$28.33	\$29.18	\$30.06	\$30.96	\$31.91
FIRE MEDIC	\$30.26	\$31.17	\$32.09	\$33.06	\$34.05	\$35.06
FIRE MEDIC /	\$33.00	\$34.00	\$35.01	\$36.05	\$37.14	\$38.25
CRITICAL CARE						
FF/EMT	\$27.51	\$28.33	\$29.18	\$30.06	\$30.96	\$31.91
FF/AEMT	\$30.26	\$31.17	\$32.09	\$33.06	\$34.05	\$35.06
FF/MEDIC	\$33.00	\$34.00	\$35.01	\$36.05	\$37.14	\$38.25
CAPT/EMT	\$31.63	\$32.59	\$33.57	\$34.57	\$35.60	\$36.68
CAPT/AEMT	\$34.38	\$35.41	\$36.46	\$37.57	\$38.70	\$39.85
CAPT/MEDIC	\$37.13	\$38.24	\$39.39	\$40.56	\$41.80	\$43.04
BC/EMT			\$39.19	\$40.37	\$41.58	\$42.84
BC/AEMT			\$41.95	\$43.21	\$44.50	\$45.82
BC/MEDIC			\$44.68	\$46.04	\$47.41	\$48.84

APPENDIX B - CONSENT TO RELEASE OF MEDICAL INFORMATION

I,	, hereby give my consent to the release
of the results of physical evaluations and the release of medical	al information pertaining to my ability to
perform the physical fitness evaluations to the City Manager and	Fire Chief.
I do not consent to the release of any other medical information to	o anyone.
Dated	

APPENDIX C - UNION PHYSICAL FITNESS ASSESSMENT

Ladder Climb:

The Union Member will begin by donning appropriate PPE, including ladder belt, hemet, and gloves. This

portion is not timed. The member will start their climb, any stoppage requires members to "hook in". The

member must climb 100' extension and 75° reaching the horizontal bar that separates into the bucket.

The member will rattle that bar, then will get the "all set" and make the climb down. Three points of

contact must be maintained throughout.

Pass: Climb all 100' and rattle the horizongal bar at the Tower bucket.

Fail: Not making the full climb to designated target.

Body Weight Deadlift:

Prior to testing, the Union Member will be weighed to assess the determined weight on the barbell. The

"Trap" bar will be used for this with rubber weight plates. Weight will be rounded to the nearest 5lbs. The

time for the assessment will begin one the hands touch the barbell. The bar will be lifted in one motion,

standing fully upright with the hips and knees at full extension and shoulders behind the bar. The rep is

accredited when it is lowered with control to the ground. No bouncing the bar off the ground, no letting go

at the top of the rep. Ten full reps must be completed to pass this section. The repetitions do not have to

be consistent, a break may be taken between reps.

Pass: 10 Body Weight Deadlifts.

Fail: Less than 10 reps, not prescribed weight.

Kieser Sled:

This test will follow the body weight deadlifts. The Union Member will stand on the diamond plate,

straddling the metal beam. The beam must be struck, not dragged with the sledgehammer. The test is

concluded when the beam breaks the plane of the furthest edge.

Pass: Strike the metal beam the length of the track.

Fail: Dragging the metal beam, not completing the required distance.

Ladder Raise:

Directly after the keiser sled, a two section 24' ladder will be placed on the ground perpendicular to the

outside wall. The Union Member is to left the ladder by means of either beam raise or rung raise fully upright to the wall. The member will then pull the base out away from the wall, step on the bottom rung,

extend their arms, ultimately proving a proper climbing angle.

Pass: Raise the ladder against the wall in a controlled manner and show proper climbing angle by

standing on bottom rung with arms fully extended.

- 39 -

Fail: Unsafe or uncontrolled ladder placement. Not proving a correct climbing angle or incorrect climbing angle. *One (1) warning will be issued on an improper climbing angle, and it must be fixed within the same evolution

Dry Hose Advancement:

Following the Ladder Raise, two preconnected 50' sections of 2 ½" dry hose will be placed on the ground with a nozzle attached. The Union Member is to grab the nozzle, and no further back than the taped line (8'). The member will drag the hose to the designated area, once crossed the member will pull the dry hose until the 50' coupling reaches the designated area. There is no running.

Pass: Using control and safe mechanics, cross the nozzle and 50' coupling to the designated area.

Fail: One (1) warning for running, unsafe control. Not meeting designated areas.

Dual Saw Carry:

After the Dry Hose Advancement, the Union Member will locate the two gas saws located on Tower 1. Both saws will be removed from their compartment, one saw at a time and walked for one entire lap around the truck. The lap will start heading towards the front of the truck. The saws are then to be placed back on the ground infront of the compartment. The member is only allowed to place the saws on the ground one time for a re-grip.

Pass: Locate the appropriate tools, carry them in a safe and controlled manner. *One (1) place down and reset grip is allowed. Place the saws back infront of the original compartment.

Fail: Dropping the saws, incorrect tool choice, too many resets, not placing back infront of the original compartment.

High-Rise Pack Climb:

Once the Dual Saw Carry is completed the Union Member will head towards the South Stairwell where the high-rise pack is located. The member may carry the pack in any fashion they choose, as long as it is safe. The member will advance up three flights of stairs to the very top. Skipping steps is not allowed. Use of handrails is permitted. At the top of the stairs, the member will plave the pack down to their left. The pack will remain at the top of the stairs.

Pass: Successfully climb the three flights of stairs with the high-rise pack. No penalty for setting the pack down. *One (1) warning will be given for skipping stairs, this includes the way back down as well.

Fail: Skipping stairs more than once, failure to get the pack all the way to the top flight.

Rope Hoist:

After the high-rise pack has been plaved down, ahead of the Unio Member towards the fire pole will be a 50lb sandbag attached to a section of utility rope. The member is to hoist the sandbag up over the railing and place it on the ground. The member will not wrap, step, bite, wedge, or by any other means besides

their gloved hands, grab onto the rope. The rope may slip within the members' hand, there must be an attendant to mind the rope during the evaluation.

Pass: Achieve the distance of getting the sandbag over the top of the railing and placed down on the floor.

Fail: Grabbing the rope in any other means besides a gloved hand. Not making the full distance of the sandbag.

Dummy Drag:

Following the rope hoist, the Union Member will head back downstairs to the wash bay for the drummy drag. The 150lb soft dummy will be used. The member may grab the drag handle, drag by any two (2) extremities, bear hug or shoulder carry. The dummy will travel 50' around one cone and back through original starting point.

Pass: Successfully traveling the distance with the dummy.

Fail: Not making the full distance, grabbing the dummy in a way not described.

250 Meter Row:

Completing the dummy drag sets the Union Member up for the final event, the 250 Meter Row. The test begins with the member sitting fully on the seat, feet strapped in, and hands on the paddle. The rower will preemptively be set and turned on. The member will row until the 250 M is complete which will end the total time for the Physical Assessment.

Pass: Complete 250 Meters.

Fail: Complete less than 250 Meters, use an unorthodox method to accomplish the row.

Scoring:

This assessment will be scored by a pass/fail on each of the 10 events. Each event is worth 10 points for a total of 100 points. The Union Member must score 70 points to have an overall passing score, AND the test must be completed within a 15 minute time cap. There are no partial scores within an event, for example 8/10 deadlifts is still a failure and not an 80% completion.

This test is to be conducted annually and must be attended by all Union Members.

* There will be **NO** running in between or during any stations. Safety and control must be maintained throughout and is at discretion of the evaluator.

APPENDIX D: FITNESS EVALUATION FORM

Waterville Fire Department Union Annual Physical Assessment

Official Member.						
Physical Agility Obstacle Course						
	Pass	Fail	Evaluator			
Ladder Climb 100'			Start time at touch			
			of barbell			
10 Body Weight Deadlifts						
Keiser Sled						
Ladder Raise						
Dry Hose Advancement						
Dual Saw Carry						
High Rise Pack						
Rope Hoist						
Dummy Drag/Carry						
250 Meter/Row						
Т	otal Time: (15 N	linute Time Cap)				
Evaluator Comments:						
** Test is to be completed with close toed, lace up sh	oes or boots, a	protective helmet a	and gloves, either			
structural or utility.						
I agree that the results of this physical agility test as	recorded on this	s document are acc	curate and reflect			
my actual performance of said events.						
Union Member Signature:						
-		_				
Evaluator Signature:						
Date:						

APPENDIX E – OVERTIME BOARD RULES

- 1. If a full, 24-hour shift goes to the Overtime Board, it will be filled in two, twelve (12) hour increments.
- 2. If an employee is called for overtime, they shall be charged refusal time. Refusal time <u>shall not</u> be charged if less than six (6) hours' notice is given.
- 3. If the overtime position does <u>not</u> need to be filled immediately or within the next two (2) hours, a minimum lag time of ten (10) minutes between calls shall be allowed.
- 4. If the overtime position needs to be filled immediately or withing the next two (2) hours, the calling may be continuous. (No ten (10) minute lag time between calls or lag time between calling rounds).
- 5. Filling Overtime for the EMS Personnel position. If a position for overtime opens on those personnel that are known as "Fire Medics" then a Fire Medic shall be called to fill the overtime. If no Fire Medic are available to take the overtime, then the overtime will go to the overtime board and calls are made using the overtime rules. If a Fire Medic position cannot be filled, then a Fire Medic will be forced to remain on duty.
- 6. A "Fire Medic" cannot be called in to cover Drivers positions.
- 7. If the overtime position has not been filled after the first round of calling, then the list will be called again. If the overtime position is not to be filled immediately or within the next two (2) hours, an appropriate amount of time may pass between the first and second round of calling. Those offered the overtime position a second time will be docked a second time.
- 8. If a relief Firefighter/Fire Medic cannot be found through two (2) rounds of calling, then the employee with the least seniority **that is assigned to that shift** by the Waterville Fire Department will remain on duty. A Firefighter/Fire Medic will not be forced on the two (2) days preceding a vacation, personal day, swap day or funeral leave. If the vacancies are for a Battalion Chief and a Lieutenant, then the Battalion Chief will remain on duty.
- 9. When a truck needs to go somewhere for maintenance issues, the Maintenance Overseer will be called first and will not be docked on the board. If he/she refuses, then the calling follows the overtime board rules.
- 10. Any Firefighter/Fire Medic out on vacation, personal day, swap day, or funeral leave will not be docked on the two (2) days preceding or following the vacation, personal day, swap day, or funeral leave, unless he/she works the overtime position. (Reference to funeral leave above does not apply to four (4) hour leave.)
- 11. If a person goes home sick at any time during his/her shift, then the remainder of the shift will be going to the "Overtime Board". The remainder of the sick/overtime position will be offered to one person regardless of how many hours remain.

- 12. Any driver out on sick leave will not be docked on the two (2) days following a sick day, unless he/she works the overtime position.
- 13. Calling may begin as soon as notification of vacancy is made.
- 14. All overtime call-in hours will be docked **EXCEPT** the following:
 - 1. Snow/hydrant shoveling
 - 2. Fire Prevention activities
 - 3. School coverage of less than 4 hours
 - 4. Off Duty Calls
 - 5. Waterville Fire approved training, classes, seminars, schools or clinicals.
 - 6. Fire Alarm Maintenance Technician activities.
 - 7. Apparatus Maintenance Overseer activities.
 - 8. Coverage for COVID Testing of City Employees
- 15. Each driver may have two (2) phone numbers on the list. The caller shall utilize both numbers on the list if necessary.
- 16. Face to face interactions between the caller and the employee will be allowed. In this case a phone call is not necessary.
- 17. When Special Duty events are available, calling can take place as soon as possible. (Example: covering sporting events, graduations, 4th of July, Opera House, etc.) Everyone is included in call-ins regardless of rank and position as long as they meet the qualifications to work the detail. If a person is not qualified they will still be charged refusal time. Call-ins for these events shall be based on Seniority rotation. All special duty events shall require an EMS license.
- 18. The Lieutenant on each shift shall be the primary caller and at least one (1) alternate caller on each shift shall be designated. It shall be the responsibility of each shift Battalion Chief to designate and train the callers on their shift.
- 19. The Overtime Committee shall consist of all the Union members. Disputes and rule changes will be settled by majority vote.
- 20. When newly hired drivers have been approved to cover <u>ALL</u> trucks by the chief, he/she will be entered on the Overtime Board. His/her starting hours shall be determined by the average of all drivers (Battalion Chief, Lieutenants, Rescue Technicians, and privates).
- 21. If the Battalion Chief and Lieutenant are both out then two (2) rounds of calling of the current Battalion Chiefs shall be made. If after two (2) rounds of calling the position is not filled, then a new round of calling of the Lieutenant's shall be made.
- 22. Side bar agreements are not allowed until all the OT rules have been met and are exhausted.
- 23. Drivers out on vacation time shall receive "courtesy calls".

The Union has the right to amend this policy at any time. The Union will provide management a copy of the revised policy in writing prior to any changes going into effect.

REVISED: February 4, 2021 – Changed Captains to Battalion Chief and took out Meal Hours.

REVISED: May 6th, 2021 - Removed: If one of the two (2) overtime vacancies is a Rescue Technician then

two (2) rounds of calling of the current Rescue Technicians shall be made. If after two (2) rounds of calling the position is not filled then a new round of calling of the remainder of the drivers,

excluding Rescue Technicians, shall be made for a utility position.

Line 18 - Added to Special Duty events. Call-ins for these events shall be based on Seniority

rotation.

REVISED: September 16th, 2021 – Added lines 5 & 6. Added the title – "Firefighter/Fire Medic".

Deleted out line #13. Re-numbered each paragraph.

REVISED: December 18th, 2021 - Removed: If one of the vacancies is for a Rescue Technician, then a

Rescue Technician will remain on duty.

Add #8 to Line 14 Remove: Line 22

APPENDIX F - OVERTIME POLICY JULY 1, 2008

- 1. Sixth person on shift not replaced.
- 2. Battalion Chiefs will be replaced by the Captain on duty unless the Captain on the shift is also absent from work. If that occurs, another Battalion Chief will be called.
- 3. Only one person per shift can be granted vacation. Vacation must be approved by Fire Chief.
- 4. All training that requires overtime must be approved by the Fire Chief.

EXHIBIT A – ACCUMULATED SICK LEAVE BANK

The following employees may use the sick leave listed below per Article 13, Section 11.

Employee Name

Number of Hours

John Gromek

1,200.00